### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT MORRIS, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. : .

Case No. SC95623

### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

### TOPICAL

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, ROBERT MORRIS, was the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to in this brief as appellant or by name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution and will be referred to as the state. The record on appeal will be referred to by volume number, followed by a page reference. The supplemental record will be referred to as SR. All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Morris was charged by indictment on September 29, 1994 in Polk County with the first degree murder of Violet Livingston, burglary, armed robbery, and sexual battery (1/3-6). Appellant's motion to sever the sexual battery count was granted. The state unsuccessfully sought certiorari review in the Second District Court of Appeal of the order granting a severance. The state then elected to try the sexual battery count first, and that case went to trial in November, 1998, resulting in a hung jury (6/995-1000, 1029-30; 7/1146,1224.1232,1247-48,1250,1276,1283-97; 8/1321, 1332-33). The trial court then granted a judgment of acquittal, on the ground that the evidence did not exclude the reasonable hypothesis that the victim died prior to the commencement of the sexual battery (8/1332-33).<sup>1</sup> The defense moved in limine to exclude evidence of sexual activity from the upcoming murder trial. The trial court ruled that the state could introduce evidence that biological materials and fluids recovered from Violet Livingston's body during the autopsy were submitted for DNA testing, and could introduce the results of the DNA tests, but that the state would not be permitted to introduce evidence inferring sexual activity (6/1034 - 35; 7/1147).The case proceeded to trial on counts one, two, and four from February 15 - March 11, 1999, before Circuit Judge Robert A. Young and a jury. On the Friday before jury selection, the state offered an eleventh hour plea deal of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See <u>Jones v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1234, 1237 (Fla. 1990).

sentence of life imprisonment in exchange for a guilty plea. Appellant did not accept the offer (see 11/10-12; 10/1801; SR98).

The jury found appellant guilty as charged on each count (9/ 1560-61; 29/3550-51), and, after the penalty phase, recommended a death sentence by a vote of 8-4 (9/1625; 35/4586-87). Appellant received concurrent sentences of life imprisonment for the burglary and robbery convictions (10/1732, 1735-45). On April 30, 1999, Judge Young imposed the death penalty for the murder conviction, finding four aggravating factors,<sup>2</sup> one statutory mitigating factor,<sup>3</sup> and numerous nonstatutory mitigating factors<sup>4</sup> (10/1806-09; SR90-99). Notice of appeal was filed on April 30, 1999 (10/1812).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Prior felonies involving the use or threat of violence (moderate weight), parole status (moderate weight), financial gain (great weight), and HAC (great weight) (SR91-93).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Capacity of defendant to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired (moderate weight) (SR97).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Among these are eight nonstatutory mitigating factors arising from appellant's background and childhood experiences, which were considered in the aggregate and accorded great weight (SR94,95,98).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### A. <u>Trial</u>

On the morning of September 2, 1994, 88 year old Violet Livingston was found dead in her Lakeland apartment by her son (25/ 2684,2691-95). The police responded to the scene at the Martin's Landing apartment complex. Mrs. Livingston was lying on the bedroom floor between the two beds. Her head was wrapped tightly in bedsheets. There was blood on the walls and furniture, and on a walking cane which was on the bed. Both bedrooms were in disarray (20/1773-74,1776-78,1780-86,1789,1791-93,1796-1803,1806-09; 22/ 2106,2112-14,2119-22; 24/2527; 25/2694-95).

The point of entry appeared to be the kitchen window on the south side of the apartment. The screen was off the window and was leaning against the building. The window was shut but the glass was broken. There were window latches and broken glass on the ground. To the right of the window was a yellow chair, sitting underneath the porch light. The porch light cover was off the fixture, and was lying on the ground (20/1738,1743-47,1752-54; 21/1981-82; 24/2525-26; 25/2767-74).

The apartment was processed for fingerprints. A total of eighteen prints were obtained from the interior and exterior of the apartment. Eleven of these were of value for comparison purposes. A single print, obtained from the partially unscrewed light bulb outside the kitchen window, was later matched to appellant in a search of the AFIS database. One print belonged to the victim's

son, four belonged to a police department intern, and five were never matched to anyone (20/1729,1816,1827-29,1834; 21/1906-07,1916-19,1939-42,1954-62; 24/ 2528-29,2553-54,2594-2601). The five unidentified prints could have belonged to one individual, or up to five individuals (21/ 1971).

According to the associate medical examiner, Mrs. Livingston died as a result of multiple injuries. She had sustained bruises, lacerations, abrasions, rib fractures, brain hemorrhage, and mechanical asphyxia due to suffocation. Some of the injuries were consistent with having been inflicted with her walking cane. There were neck injuries consistent with possible strangulation, and wounds to her right forearm, hand, and knee which could be classified as defensive. Dr. Melamud could not determine the sequence of the injuries, but Mrs. Livingston was alive for a short period of time after the attack began. Dr. Melamud could not tell when she would have become unconscious (26/2837-60,2864).

The four main categories of evidence presented by the state against appellant were (1) the fingerprint on the light bulb outside the kitchen window; (2) his possession of various items taken from Mrs. Livingston's residence, including collectible coins (which were spent by him in several neighborhood stores); and coin wrappers, coin booklets, and a Sort-n-Save bank (found in and around his residence, and in a clothes hamper which had been in his residence);<sup>5</sup> DNA test results; and a jailhouse informant named

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See 20/1839-61; 24/2529-42,2566-70,26003-09,2637-38; 25/2638-39, 2668-69, 2706-12,2715,2751-53.

Damion Sastre. The state's DNA experts testified that appellant could not be excluded as the source of the DNA obtained from two locations on Mrs. Livingston's body,<sup>6</sup> and from the kitchen curtain (23/2267-76,2282-93,2311-12,2430-33; 24/2434-42,2458-63,2486-93, 2502-04,2510-13). According to the state's population geneticist, the frequency of this DNA pattern in the African-American database would be 1 in 7.1 million (meaning a "ballpark range" of 1 in 710,000 to 1 in 71 million (23/2296-98,2355-57). The defense challenged on cross-examination the reliability of the DNA tests performed by Cellmark, and whether the proper procedures were followed (23/2301-57; 24/2447-63,2506-17). The defense also presented its own population geneticist (originally retained by the prosecution) who testified that the frequency of the DNA pattern demonstrated by appellant within the African-American population is 1 in 2.2 million (or a range of 1 in 220,000 to 1 in 22 million). Using the National Research Council's "upper confidence limit" (i.e., the number at which you can be assured that you are accurate between 90-95% of the time), it would be 1 in 220,000 (26/2992-95; 27/3011-12,3019,3024-25,3033).

One Negroid body hair and one Negroid body hair fragment were found in the debris from the kitchen curtain. These were not suitable for microscopic comparison. A Negroid pubic body hair was recovered from one of the coin wrappers found in appellant's back

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Blood and biological fluids were obtained during the autopsy from the vaginal, rectal, and oral areas. In keeping with the trial court's order <u>in limine</u>, these were referred to at trial as Locations A, B, and C (see 8/1417-18,1464; 9/1500; 21/1986-91, 1995-96,2036-38).

yard. This hair was both visually and microscopically very different from appellant's known hair sample, and could not have come from him (22/2172-74,2181,2189-90).

Damion Sastre, a seven-time convicted felon, testified that appellant told him in jail that he committed the murder. Sastre claimed that appellant said he would take a life sentence but not a death sentence.<sup>7</sup> Sastre denied getting details of the crime from the discovery materials, such as police reports and depositions, which appellant had in his cell. According to Sastre, appellant said they didn't have anything on him except a partial thumbprint on a light bulb. Since appellant had already told Sastre he had previously stolen a bicycle from there, Sastre suggested to appellant that he say that that was when he touched the light bulb (26/ 2884-94,2884-94,2897,2912-13). Sastre testified that appellant told him there was a screen porch, and that he (appellant) had to cut a slit in the screen to unlatch a door to gain access to where the light bulb was. Sastre acknowledged, upon being shown a photograph, that there is no screen porch to Violet Livingston's apartment (26/2915-17).

Appellant took the stand in his own defense, and stated that he did not kill Violet Livingston or break into her apartment (27/ 3096-97). He had gone over to Martin's Landing to play basketball, but nobody was there. Starting for home, he remembered that a friend had asked him if he could get a bicycle for her, so he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Note that when appellant was offered a life sentence in exchange for a guilty plea on the eve of trial, he declined (11/10-12; 10/1801; SR98).

walked in the back of the apartments and saw a bike on the top stairs. It was too bright back there, so he unscrewed the light bulb to go upstairs. The bicycle was secured by a big lock and he couldn't get it so he headed back home (27/3097,3100-06). As he passed by the Farm Store, he saw a brown paper sack, which he picked up and heard some jingling. Thinking it had change in it, he took it home. There he emptied the bag on the couch. There was a coin sorter, about half a dozen coin books, a chain necklace, and some little bags, some containing coins, some empty. Thinking he just got lucky and found some change, he spent the coins in a neighborhood sub shop and Texaco station (27/3006-14).

On September 11, 1994, appellant was arrested when his lady friend's mother reported her car stolen.<sup>8</sup> A couple of days later, detectives questioned him about a murder that happened at Martin's Landing. Appellant looked at them like they were crazy; he didn't know what they were talking about. The detectives kept accusing him, telling him he did it, and that they had found his fingerprints inside the home. Appellant said that was not possible, because he was never inside anyone's home. Frightened by the accusatory tone of the interrogation, appellant told them they might find his fingerprint on the light bulb, but he did not explain how it got there (27/3119-26).

Appellant testified that he never talked to Damion Sastre about his case. He never told Sastre he killed Violet Livingston,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Appellant's friend had spent the night with him; he used her car and kept it too long. He later learned that the car did not belong to his lady friend, but to her mother (27/3120).

or that he took coins out of her apartment, or that he gained entry to where the light bulb was by going through a screened porch, or that he would take a life sentence but not the death penalty (27/ 3133,3192-93). Sastre was in the same dorm as appellant, and he had access to all the cells in the dorm. Appellant had his discovery materials in a folder under his bunk, and there was no way to lock it up when he was called out for attorney visits (27/3129-34,3184-85; 28/3197).

#### B. <u>Penalty Phase</u>

The state introduced documents to establish appellant's two 1989 robbery convictions in Missouri (based on two purse snatching incidents, one of which resulted in the victim sustaining a fractured wrist), and the fact that he was on parole from those convictions at the time of the instant offense (31/3833-34; see 10/1762, 1773-77; SR91-92).

The state then recalled the associate medical examiner, Dr. Melamud, who testified that Mrs. Livingston sustained multiple (at least 31) bruises, abrasions, and lacerations. She was alive for several minutes while these injuries were inflicted, but Dr. Melamud could not pinpoint the time or tell the sequence of the injuries (31/3836-47,3851). Most likely the injuries to her head and face occurred before her head was wrapped with bedsheets (31/ 3845). The injuries would have caused pain while she was conscious, but not after she became unconscious (31/3836,3847). The injuries to Mrs. Livingston's head could have caused unconsciousness, and

Dr. Melamud couldn't say when those were inflicted in relation to the other injuries (31/3847,3851-52).

FDLE bloodstain pattern expert Leroy Parker stated the opinion that there was some movement of or by the victim within the bedroom during the time she received the forceful impacts. Based on his observations of the bloodstains, he concluded also that she was in an upright position at one point, then lower, and then down or close to the floor. Objects in the bedroom were in disarray, indicating a struggle (31/3868-71).

The state called Mrs. Livingston's two sons, a grandson, and a granddaughter as victim impact witnesses (31/3873-87).

The first defense witness was appellant's mother, Linda Bell. Linda met appellant's father when she was just turning 15, and she soon became pregnant. She did not know how that happened, or anything about the facts of life. Her stomach kept getting big and she stopped having a period, and eventually one of the other girls in school explained what was happening. This frightened Linda, because her mom had told her if she got pregnant she couldn't live there any more. (At the time she received that warning from her mom, Linda didn't even know what she meant by the word "pregnant"). She tried to hide her condition with bulky sweaters, but eventually her sister found out and told their mother, who said "You made your bed hard, you lie in it", and put Linda out of the house (31/3927-30).

After her sister Clara put her out as well, a relative by marriage of Clara's took her in, and here the baby was born on

March 3, 1963. She named him Robert Dwayne Morris.<sup>9</sup> When Linda went for her six-week checkup she found out she was pregnant again. Paula was born ten months after Robert, and a third child -- Sharon -- was born seventeen months after Paula (31/2931-33). Linda did not marry Robert, Sr.; they lived together as common-law husband and wife until Sharon was about three months old. Robert, Sr. decided to go to California and get a job. Six months later he sent for Linda and the kids. When they arrived, Robert, Sr. moved them into his uncle's house. A few months later, Linda learned that Robert, Sr. had brought another woman with him when he moved to California; they were living together and the woman was either pregnant or had just had the baby. Linda was furious, and in retaliation began seeing another man who was married and had two daughters. One day Robert, Sr. saw her with this guy, and she got scared and decided she'd better move out of his uncle's place. She moved with the kids into an apartment and applied for welfare (31/ 3933-40).

After she stopped seeing the married man, Linda got a job as a nurse's aide and began using drugs. Part of her job was to set up medications for the residents. A co-worker told her, "Start taking these, these will make you feel good, make you forget about stuff." Linda started taking the pills, and decided her colleague was right. From then on, she was on the pills (Seconal, known on the street as Red Devils) every day (R31/3939-41). At that time,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In the section of the brief summarizing the testimony of appellant's family and friends, he will be referred to as Rob or Robert. His father will be referred to as Robert, Sr.

the only type of men she would involve herself with were men with drugs, because the pills were three for a dollar and she felt like she couldn't afford them herself (31/3941).

During this period of time, Linda was leaving her children -ages one, two, and three -- home alone. The lady downstairs across the fence was keeping an eye on them, but they stayed in the house by themselves (31/3941-43,3945).

One night Linda went out to the all-night movies with a group of friends; they were all high on pills and drinking. They got involved in an altercation where they thought a younger man was beating up an older man, but it turned out the perceived aggressor was a cop. The officer pulled his weapon and shot one of Linda's friends ("I think he lost his liver or something"), and they all went to jail (31/3141-42).

Linda was in jail for ten days or more. When she got out, she had been evicted from her apartment and she couldn't find her children. An acquaintance took her to the welfare office and they located the children, who were in separate foster homes (31/3943-44). It turned out that since Linda "had no one to call" while she was in jail, the neighbor lady didn't know where she was, so she called the welfare office and they came and got the children (31/ 3943).

When Linda was allowed to visit her children, the two older siblings complained of the conditions of their foster care. Robert told her he wasn't being fed, and they were very cruel to him. Paula was getting beaten for wetting the bed. Sharon, the

youngest, was apparently being treated better, but she didn't understand why they weren't together (31/3944-45).

After three months in foster care, the children were returned to Linda. Although a social worker had told her she had to clean herself up, she continued to use drugs on a daily basis. She was taking prescription sleeping pills in addition to the illegal drugs, and it caused her to break out in a terrible rash over most of her body. The doctor refused to renew her prescription, but she was so hooked into the Seconal that she had no idea what she was doing to herself. Every day she would bring her children to the dope house and make them wait outside while she went in and got her She would then stop by the candy store and buy the kids drugs. some candy; then she'd go home and take her pills. Eventually the doctor threatened to put her in the hospital, but she knew she couldn't go there because she didn't have anyone to keep the kids. This finally motivated her to get off the Seconal and her rash cleared up. Once off the "downers", she promptly replaced them with "uppers" ("Bennies", which were speed)(31/3946;32/3951-54). Also, she got introduced to Valium, which was just coming out then, and which "kind of made you feel like you did when you were taking Seconal" (32/3954).

Around this time, she allowed a male platonic friend named Tony to move in with her and the children (now ages 3, 4, and 5), after Tony's wife had put him out. One day Linda went to the grocery store and left Tony alone with the kids. When she returned, Tony had just left the house. Her oldest child, Rob, came running

to her crying hysterically. He told her that Tony had had his sister Paula in the bathroom. Paula was screaming for Rob to help her, but Tony wouldn't let him in. Linda then talked to Paula, who told her what had happened, that Tony had raped her (32/3950-51, 3954-55,3959-60). Linda went to Tony's mother's house, and when she told them what happened, they threatened her and called her a liar. Linda called the police, who came and interviewed Paula and Rob. Tony was prosecuted, and four year old Paula and five year old Rob testified in court (32/3960-62). Linda was present in the courtroom, but because she was on drugs so heavy, she never found out the outcome of the trial (32/3962).

Linda and her children moved back to her mother's house in her hometown of Springfield, Missouri, so "we could start all over again and put everything behind us" (32/3962-64). Unfortunately, not everything was put in the past:

> At that time I was just wild. I had a built-in baby-sitter; so I just went wild on drugs, heavier drugs. I got introduced to different other things.

(32/3964).

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