## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT MORRIS

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

vs.

CASE NO. SC95623

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Westwood Center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739 (813) 326-1292 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

#

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

(T27, 3083). The trial court denied the motion for mistrial.

Defense counsel then read the proposed stipulation, as follows:

The parties stipulate and agree that no attorney representing the defendant, nor any representative of the public defender's office, has suggested or encouraged any witness to present false testimony.

(T27, 3084). The stipulation was read to the jury. (T27, 3091).

Defense counsel, however, maintained that he still wanted to call investigator Maloney "simply for the purpose of explaining what her role in this was in terms of that she was not an

investigator interviewing the witness, but simply a process server to serve Ms. Laventure with her subpoena." (T27, 3084). After the trial court stated that her testimony would not fit any exception to the hearsay rule, defense counsel replied:

I was not seeking to elicit any hearsay testimony from Ms. Maloney. I was not going to ask her anything about what Ms. Laventure told her. I was simply going to ask her what her role was.

(T27, 3084-85). Defense counsel continued, stating that "now my intent in calling Ms. Maloney is simply to ask her what her role was and that it was not as an investigator to gather information from Ms. Laventure, but simply to serve her with a subpoena and keep her advised as to when she needed to appear in court." (T27, 3085).

After hearing defense counsel's explanation, the trial court denied the request to call Ms. Maloney, stating:

The problem, of course, is that its relevancy is tenuous at best since it doesn't get to the ultimate issue, which is cured by the stipulation, and, therefore, your request is denied.

(T27, 3085).

On appeal, appellant argues that Ms. Maloney's live testimony was preferred over the stipulation. Further, appellant argues that the jury was entitled to learn of the substance of Ms. Laventure's statements to Ms. Maloney, not simply that Ms. Maloney did not suggest potential testimony to the witness. Appellant claims that he should have been allowed to impeach Ms. Laventure's testimony

with a prior inconsistent statement. The problem with this argument is that defense counsel never argued below that Ms. Maloney's testimony should be admitted as a prior inconsistent In fact, in arguing this point to the trial court statement. below, defense counsel stated that he would not ask Ms. Maloney the specific statements allegedly made by Ms. Laventure: "... I was not going to ask her anything about what Ms. Laventure told her." (T27, 3084-85). While Ms. Maloney did testify to specific statements on the proffer<sup>2</sup>, defense counsel did not readdress his earlier position and assert that the jury was entitled to learn of the specific statements made by Ms. Laventure. Consequently, this particular argument has not been preserved for review. See Section 924.051 (1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1996) ("'Preserved' means that an issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was timely raised before, and ruled on by the trial court, and that the issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was sufficiently precise that it fairly apprised the trial court of the relief sought and the grounds therefor."); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) post conviction relief denied, 574 So.2d 1075 (Fla.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>On proffer, Ms. Maloney testified that when she served a subpeona, Ms. Laventure volunteered that she had seen a man milling about Ms. Livingston's apartment and that it appeared he had been locked out. Ms. Laventure volunteered that he was definitely not a black man. (T28, 3213). Ms. Laventure also added that she wanted nothing to do with the case and was upset about being served with a subpeona. (T28, 3214). Upon attempting to serve the second subpeona, Maloney testified that Laventure volunteered that she knew so little information and did not understand why she had to appear in court. (T28, 3215).

1991) ("except in cases of fundamental error, an appellate court will not consider an issue unless it was presented to the lower court."); <u>Archer v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1993) (For an issue "to be preserved for appeal . . it 'must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved for appellate review.'") (quoting <u>Tillman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 471 So.2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985)).

As for the contention that the defense should have been able to call Ms. Maloney to testify that she never suggested possible testimony to Ms. Laventure and simply asked her to tell the truth, this portion of appellant's argument on appeal is preserved for review. This portion of appellant's argument, while preserved for review, is without merit.

Appellant claims that his allegation of error is subject to review under the harmless error analysis of <u>State v. Diguilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). However, in this case, the defense requested a mistrial which was denied by the trial court. Instead, the trial court provided a curative instruction to the jury which was approved by the parties below. In <u>Goodwin v. State</u>, 751 So.2d 537, 546 (Fla. 1999), this Court noted that <u>DiGuilio</u> did not govern review of a trial court's denial of a mistrial motion. This Court stated:

...In <u>Goodwin</u>, the issue on appeal before the Fourth District was whether reversal was required because of the

allegedly impermissible "bad neighborhood" testimony. However, in <u>Goodwin</u>, the trial court not only sustained the objection to the "bad neighborhood" testimony, but gave the jury a curative instruction to disregard the comment. The defendant then moved for a mistrial. The trial court reserved ruling on the motion until after trial at which time the motion for mistrial was denied. As explained by the Fourth District, similar testimony had already been admitted without objection. <u>Goodwin</u>, 721 So.2d at 728-29.

This Court's case law states that a trial court's ruling on a motion for mistrial is subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. <u>See Cole v. State</u>, 701 So.2d 845, 853 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 523 U.S. 1051, 118 S.Ct. 1370, 140 L.Ed.2d 519 (1998); <u>Power v. State</u>, 605 So.2d 856, 860 (Fla. 1992). Recently we reaffirmed that a motion for mistrial "should be granted only when it is necessary to ensure that the defendant receives a fair trial." <u>Cole</u>, 701 So.2d at 853; <u>see also Terry v. State</u>, 668 So.2d 954, 962 (Fla. 1996). We held in <u>Cole</u> that because the complained of remark "was not so prejudicial as to require reversal," the trial court did not abuse its discretion. 701 So.2d at 853.

Therefore, use of a harmless error analysis under <u>DiGuilio</u> is not necessary where, as occurred in <u>Goodwin</u>, the trial court recognized the error, sustained the objection and gave a curative instruction. Instead, the correct appellate standard is whether the trial court abused its discretion in its denial of a mistrial. In analyzing the abuse of discretion issue in <u>Goodwin</u>, it is necessary to determine whether the single improper remark, to which the trial court sustained an objection and gave a curative instruction, was so prejudicial as to deny defendant a fair trial. <u>See Cole</u>, 701 So.2d at 853. Accordingly, while we answer the certified question in the negative, we approve the result in <u>Goodwin</u>.

As in <u>Goodwin</u>, the appropriate question on review is whether or not the trial court abused its broad discretion in denying appellant's motion for mistrial. Since defense counsel's argument below did not include a contention that Ms. Laventure's statements to Ms. Maloney were independently admissible, appellant's attempt to transform the denial of his motion for a mistrial into an unfavorable or erroneous evidentiary ruling is not well taken.

It was simply not necessary for the trial court to order a mistrial in light of the favorable curative instruction provided to the jury. "Generally speaking, the use of a curative instruction to dispel the prejudicial effect of an objectionable comment is sufficient." <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 745 So.2d 343, 345 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999) (citing Buenoano v. State, 527 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1988)). See Adams v. Wainwright, 709 F.2d 1443, 1447 (11th Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 1063, 104 S.Ct. 745, 79 L.Ed.2d 203 (1984) (A curative instruction purges the taint of a prejudicial remark because "a jury is presumed to follow jury instructions."). And, in his closing argument, the prosecutor did not in any way suggest that the defense had told Ms. Laventure what to say or had otherwise acted dishonestly. The single, isolated comment of Ms. Laventure simply did not warrant the drastic remedy of a mistrial in this case. See Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982) (quoting Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d 745, 750 (Fla. 1978), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 444 U.S. 885, 100 S.Ct. 177, 62 L.Ed.2d 115 (1979) ("The law is well established that a motion for mistrial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and "the power to declare a mistrial and discharge the jury should be exercised with great care and should be done only in cases of absolute necessity.").

Regardless of the standard of review, appellant's suggestion

that absent the alleged error the result might have been different strains the outer bounds of credulity. The State possessed absolutely overwhelming evidence of appellant's guilt. In addition to appellant's fingerprint on the light bulb to the outer entrance of the victim's apartment, the DNA from blood matching appellant's was found on the curtain where the murderer apparently gained entry into the victim's apartment. (V23, 2284-86, 2290-92). Moreover, genetic material from biological fluid [semen] found at two places on the victim's body also matched appellant's genetic profile. (V23, 2289, 2296). Nothing presented at trial below casts any doubt upon the validity of the DNA evidence used in this case.<sup>3</sup>

In addition to the compelling DNA evidence presented by the State, appellant was observed passing the victim's stolen coins to two different merchants<sup>4</sup>, and property stolen from the victim was found in his apartment.<sup>5</sup> (V24, 2536-39; V24, 2568-69; V25, 2539-40). Appellant had scratches on his hands and arms after the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Testing on blood found on the curtain revealed a genetic frequency of approximately 1 in 7.1 million among African Americans. (V23, 2296). For caucasions, the frequency is even more rare, approximately 1 in 39 billion. (V23, 2296).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>At the Texaco station, Tambra Clarke, who recognized appellant from previous visits to the store, testified that appellant used rare coins to purchase items two days after the victim's murder. Ms. Clarke testified that appellant used the following coins: "...one silver dollar and there was two kennedy half dollars and then two silver quarters." (V24, 2567-68).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Ian Floyd, who used to play basketball with appellant, observed a small television set of the type missing from the victim's residence in appellant's apartment after the victim's murder. (V24, 2574-77).

victim's murder (V24, 2546-48) and a glove with blood on it was recovered from a dirty clothes hamper in his apartment.<sup>6</sup> (V24, 2538-39). Appellant's cell mate, Sastre, testified that he helped appellant come up with the 'story' to explain away his fingerprint on the victim's lightbulb, i.e., the attempted theft of a bike. (V26, 2889-91). Further, appellant admitted to Sastre that he murdered the victim and that he would take a deal for life, but would not accept the death penalty. (V26, 2894-95). Appellant also admitted to Sastre that he wore socks on his hands at the time of the murder. (V26, 2891).

Finally, militating against the need for remand in this case is the deft manner in which trial defense counsel addressed Laventure's testimony in closing argument:

...I wanted you to hear from Sherry Laventure because the bottom line, the issue she was going to talk about is the fact that there was somebody lurking around Violet Livingston's apartment the afternoon of September 1<sup>st</sup>, the afternoon before the night when she was murdered, who didn't belong there. I thought she was going to say he wasn't black. I was willing to live with that. It didn't help me a lot because there were Negroid body hairs found inside Ms. Livingston's apartment. So you would think, well, maybe it's more likely that a black was the one in there.

The population geneticists have told you that this particular DNA profile is more common, significantly more common in the African American database than it is in the Caucasian database or the Hispanic database. I still wanted you to hear it even though I thought she was going to say it wasn't a black person. It didn't matter. We know it wasn't him because Julie Woodruff from Taco Bell got on the witness stand and said he was working from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The glove had blood on it with genetic characteristics consistent with the appellant's. (V23, 2286).

2:00 to 5:30 on Thursday afternoon, September 1<sup>st</sup>. She had the records initialed by the manager on duty.

You heard Ms. Laventure say she knows what time it was, after two o'clock, because she goes to get her daughter from school, so she went out to get the mail just before getting in her car. So we know it wasn't him. Apparently, maybe it was a black person. So be it. The issue is somebody was lurking around that apartment, somebody who the police got told about. Ms. Laventure told you she told the police about this person, and yet that's not checked out either.

(T29, 3436-37). The fact that the person Ms. Laventure observed may have been African American probably worked to appellant's advantage given the physical evidence suggesting that the attacker was in fact, African American. The most important fact elicited from Ms. Laventure in favor of appellant's defense was the time this individual was observed near the victim's apartment. And, contrary to appellant's claim, the prosecutor apparently did not dispute the fact that the defendant was at work between 2:00 and 5:00 on September 2<sup>nd</sup>. The prosecutor in fact, appeared to accept the testimony that appellant was at work:

...We know that Mrs. Livingston was alive at six o'clock that night. We know that he did not get home until about 5:45 p.m. He said he got off work about 5:30, took him about 15 minutes and things got vague from that point on. Things got so conveniently vague as to the time.

(T28, 3361-62).

Thus, based upon this record, the race of the individual observed by Ms. Laventure was not critical to appellant's defense. And, since the jury was specifically advised that no defense attorney or any representative of the defense advised <u>any</u> witness

to present false testimony, it cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion in denying appellant's motion for mistrial.

### ISSUE II

# WHETHER APPELLANT SHOULD RECEIVE A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON AN ALLEGATION OF JUROR MISCONDUCT WHERE HE FAILED TO REQUEST A NEW TRIAL ON THIS BASIS BELOW? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant argues that the simple fact that a juror who was earlier excused from service was observed talking to prospective jurors mandates reversal of his convictions. While he concedes that he cannot show prejudice based upon this record, he apparently contends that the risk of possible juror influence was so great that his convictions cannot stand. The State disagrees.

Appellant's argument might have some merit if no inquiry was made into this allegation below. However, the trial court inquired of the former juror and appellant did not ask for any additional inquiry of this individual or the panel as a whole below. And, fatal to appellant's claim on appeal, he did not seek a mistrial based upon this contact or otherwise indicate that the issue was not resolved to his satisfaction below. Consequently, this argument has clearly been waived on appeal. See Section 924.051 (1) (b), Fla. Stat. (1996) ("'Preserved' means that an issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was timely raised before, and ruled on by, the trial court, and that the issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was sufficiently precise that it fairly apprised the trial court of the relief sought and the grounds therefor."); Steinhorst, 412 So.2d at 338 ("except in cases of fundamental error, an appellate court will not consider an issue

unless it was presented to the lower court.").

A party cannot sit back when they become aware of juror misconduct, then wait until an adverse verdict to finally bring it to the attention of the trial court and request a new trial. For example, in <u>Rooney v. Hannon</u>, 732 So.2d 408, 410 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999), <u>rev. denied</u>, 744 So.2d 456 (Fla. 1999), the court stated:

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